I. INTRODUCTION 

Appellant Leibsohn was a licensed real estate broker and a member 

of the Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA"). Under the Bylaws of 

the CBA, his claim against Colliers and Vander Veen (collectively 

"Colliers") was subject to binding arbitration. When Leibsohn instead 

sued in Superior Court, Colliers successfully moved to compel arbitration 

and stay the case. In arbitration, and following briefing and oral 

argument, Leibsohn's claim was deemed time-barred under the CBA's 

rules, and dismissed. Leibsohn returned to Superior Court and moved to 

lift the stay based on arguments considered and rejected by the arbitration 

panel. The court granted Leibsohn's motion, imposed sanctions on 

Colliers, and awarded Leibsohn attorney's fees. The court reasoned that 

Colliers' earlier representation that the case was arbitrable was a 

misrepresentation because the CBA did not conduct a hearing on the 

merits but instead dismissed the claim as time-barred. But there were no 

misrepresentations, and in any event, it was the CBA, not Colliers, that 

dismissed the case as time-barred. Moreover, the Court's Order required 

that the arbitration be conducted "in accordance with the [CBA's] 

Bylaws." Those Bylaws contained the time limit at issue. The court 

abused its discretion in awarding fees and sanctions. 
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Meanwhile, although the case was reinstated, Leibsohn did not 

move to vacate the arbitration award. After the deadline to seek to vacate 

the award passed, Colliers timely moved to confirm the award. The Court 

declined to confirm the arbitration award and instead retroactively (and 

sua sponte) amended the earlier order lifting the stay to include a 

provision vacating the arbitration award. This was erroneous for several 

reasons. First, because the time to seek to vacate the award had passed, 

confirmation was mandatory under RCW 7.04A.220. Second, the 

procedural basis by which the Court amended the order vacating the award 

- CR 60 - was unavailable as a matter of law once the time to move to 

vacate expired. Third, there was no error on the face of the award - a 

requisite to vacating an arbitration award. Fourth, the award was correct

Leibsohn's claim was time-barred under the CBA's rules. Fifth, the court 

had no authority to amend the earlier order because there was nothing in 

the record in connection with that order evidencing an intent to vacate the 

award. 

The issues relating to the arbitration award were not addressed by 

Leibsohn's appeal, but are set forth in Colliers' Cross Appeal (see §§ IV

VII). As a practical matter, the trial court's failure to confirm the 

arbitration award is dispositive of Leibsohn's claims, making it 
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unnecessary to reach Leibsohn's appeal. That leaves only the trial court's 

improper sanctions against Colliers, and failure to award Colliers its fees . 

Ultimately, Leibsohn's claims were dismissed on summary 

judgment. Leibsohn's case was based on a contract containing a 

prevailing party fee award. Although Colliers was not a party to that 

contract, it is nevertheless entitled to the benefit of the fee clause under 

Deepwater Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd., 152 Wn. App. 229, 

215 P .3d 990 (2009). The trial court improperly denied Colliers' Motion 

for Attorney's Fees. 

Finally, Colliers is entitled to its fees in connection with the appeal 

and cross-appeal. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELATING 
TO LEIBSOHN'S APPEAL 

A. Background 

This lawsuit involves commercial real estate formerly owned by 

K & S Developments located in SeaTac ("the Property"). Leibsohn first 

listed the Property in 2006. 1 

SeaTac was interested in acquiring land in the vicinity of the Property 

in connection with its long-term transportation corridor plans.2 To that end, it 

lCP1154. 

2 CP 1160 ~ 3. 
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retained Colliers to assess potential acquisitions in the area.3 In November 

2008, with the real estate market sinking and no offers, Leibsohn reduced the 

price to $24.5 million.4 But because the Property was still listed at more than 

double what the City thought it was worth, the City did not ask Colliers to 

pursue the Property at that time. 5 

Meanwhile, over the years, K & S had pledged the Property as 

security for multiple loans. In January 2005, before listing with Leibsohn, K 

& S provided a deed of trust to secure a $6,500,000 promissory note.6 By 

2009, K & S had granted four deeds of trust securing four loans totaling over 

twelve million dollars. 7 All four loans included personal guarantees from the 

two K & S principals, Gerry Kingen and Scott Switzer. 

By spring of2009, K & S was in default on all of the loans. One of 

the lenders, who was owed over $6,000,000, filed a judicial foreclosure 

action.8 The relief sought included a foreclosure sale of the Property and 

deficiency judgments against Switzer and Kingen personally based on their 

guarantees.9 

3 Id. 

4 Id. ~~ 4-5. 
5 Id. ~ 5. 
6 CP 1172. 

7 See summary at CP 402. 
8 CP 1216-28. 
9 Id. 
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B. Colliers Negotiates on Behalf of SeaTac to Purchase the 
Notes and Obtain Deeds in Lieu of Foreclosure 

In late June 2009, SeaTac and Colliers met to discuss the foreclosure 

and the Property.IO Leibsohn was still asking nearly $21,000,000, II far 

beyond what they (or anyone) deemed a reasonable price. Accordingly, it 

was agreed that Colliers would instead determine whether the various K & S 

creditors were willing to sell their 10ans.12 If SeaTac could purchase the 

loans, it could potentially obtain a DIL from K & S. 

Colliers began negotiating with the lenders. By the end of September, 

the first position lender agreed to sell its loan for $7,125,000, the second for 

$4,000,000, and the third and fourth lenders agreed to release their security 

interests on the Property for $100,000 each.13 A few days later, K & S' 

Switzer confirmed that K & S would provide a DIL in exchange for releases 

of Kingen's and Switzer's guarantees. 14 By early October, 2009, the 

framework was in place for SeaTac to purchase the debt and obtain the 

Property via a D IL. 

IOCp 1160,-r6. 
II Id. 

12CP 1161 ,-r7. 
13 Id.,-r 8. 
14 Id. ,-r 9. 
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Leibsohn argues that SeaTac's DIL plan was actually a scheme to 

obtain the Property without paying Leibsohn's commission or excise tax. IS 

But SeaTac had no obligation to pay a commission to Leibsohn even if 

SeaTac had purchased the Property from K & S. K & S was the party 

obligated to pay a commission under Leibsohn's listing agreement. 16 And 

while Leibsohn correctly notes that SeaTac did not want to pay an excise tax, 

there was nothing wrong with structuring a transaction to minimize or 

eliminate taxes. Moreover, as detailed in Co-Respondent SeaTac's Opening 

Brief, no excise tax was owed given the structure of the transaction. 

Leibsohn also criticizes Vander Veen for communicating with the 

lenders, as opposed to presenting an offer to purchase through Leibsohn.17 

Leibsohn forgets a judicial foreclosure had been filed and the lenders 

effectively controlled the Property. More fundamentally, Leibsohn 

represented the borrower - K & S - not the lenders, and had no authority to 

act on behalf of the lenders. 

IS Leibsohn's Opening Br. at l. 
16 CP 1242 ~ 5. 

17 Leibsohn's Opening Br. at 7. 
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C. After His Proposed Listing Extension Is Rejected, 
Leibsohn Signs (But Backdates) an Amended Listing 
Agreement for the Property 

Meanwhile, Leibsohn's listing agreement was set to expire on 

November 1, 2009.18 In mid-August, Leibsohn sent K & S a proposed new 

listing agreement which priced the Property at $27,500,000, and extended the 

term another year. 19 Leibsohn's proposed extension provided for a 

commission if the Property was sold, made unmarketable by the owner, or 

withdrawn from sale. 2o With the Property already in a judicial foreclosure 

and DIL discussions occurring, K & S did not sign the proposed agreement as 

drafted. 

Instead, on October 2,2009, K & S offered to extend Leibsohn's 

listing agreement, but with a clause excluding DIL transactions as 

commissionable events: 

18 CP 1241. 
19 CP 1246. 

20 CP 1247. 
21 CP 1253. 

No commission will be due in the event that the 
owners sign a deed in lieu of foreclosure. The 
potential transaction in which a third party may ask 
the owners to give up the property in exchange for 
removal of personal guarantees is specifically 
excluded as part of this sales/fee agreement. 21 
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In an email to Leibsohn, K & S' Switzer explained that the exclusion 

was specifically intended to address the deed in lieu transaction that was 

being negotiated: 

I wrote in a fee exclusion for the proposed deed in 
lieu of transaction proposed through Tom Hazelrigg 
and Arvin Vander Veen . 

. . . We have hung in there with you as our broker for 
over 2 years. We hope that you can pull the rabbit 
out of the hat and sell the property as a whole and get 
us out clean. 

Short of a sale by you, we will either lose the 
property to our lenders or lose it to our new note 
holders in exchange for the deed ... . We will not pay 
a fee [tol give up our pro£erty to our lenders, no 
matter who they may be. 2 

When Leibsohn received this counterproposal, he "sat on it.,,23 

Accordingly, his existing listing agreement expired by its terms on 

November 1, 2009?4 

Leibsohn did not sign the counter proposal until November 23, 

2009.25 When he signed it, he backdated it to appear as though he had 

signed it on October 2,2009.26 After signing the document (and backdating 

22 CP 1251 (emphasis added). 
23 CP 1153. 

24 CP 1241. 

25CP 1152. 
26 CP 1151:21-1152:11. 
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his signature), he never delivered or communicated his acceptance to K & 

S.27 He did, however, begin threatening to sue Colliers just two days later 

for supposedly interfering with his back-dated, nonexistent listing.28 

D. SeaTac Acquires the Property Via a Deed-in-Lieu of 
Foreclosure 

The transaction by which SeaTac purchased the debt and obtained 

title to the Property via a DIL closed in the last week of December 2009.29 In 

his brief, Leibsohn says that as a part of the transaction, SeaTac paid 

$12,270,000 to K & S.30 This is incorrect. No money went to K & S?! 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO 
LEIBSOHN'S APPEAL 

Leibsohn's brief does not address the merits of his substantive claims 

for tortious interference, violation of RCW 19.86 and unj ust enrichment. He 

instead refers the Court to his summary judgment briefing below for those 

issues.32 He devotes the bulk of his argument to whether the transaction at 

issue was a traditional sale or a deed in lieu of foreclosure. The brief of Co-

Respondent SeaTac addresses that issue and explains that it was a DIL 

27 CP 1156:2-13. 
28 CP 1263-65. 
29 CP 530. 
30 Leibsohn Opening Br. at 18-19. 
31 CP 530. 

32 Leibsohn Opening Br. at 18. 
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transaction and not a traditional sale. But even if it was a traditional sale, 

Leibsohn cannot satisfy the elements of his substantive claims. 

Leibsohn's tortious interference claim fails for several reasons. First, 

he had no reasonable expectation that the listing agreement would be 

renewed on the terms he proposed. The property was in foreclosure, and 

Leibsohn's proposed extension made a foreclosure sale a commissionable 

event. No rational owner would sign such an agreement. 

Second, by the time of the transaction, Leibsohn had no listing 

agreement because he had let it lapse. There was no contract with which to 

interfere. 

Third, K & S did not breach the agreement or terminate it 

prematurely. K & S simply declined to renew the agreement on the terms 

Leibsohn proposed. Thus, Colliers did not induce any breach. 

Fourth, the claimed damages - the loss of a commission - are 

impermissibly speculative. Leibsohn did not have a ready, willing and able 

buyer lined up, nor any buyer anywhere on the horizon. 

The speculative nature of the damages claim is likewise fatal to his 

consumer protection claims. 

Leibsohn's unjust enrichment theory argues that through his efforts, 

Colliers and SeaTac became aware that the property was for sale and 

benefitted as a result. But because Leibsohn's efforts were done pursuant to 
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his contract with K & S, unjust enrichment from Colliers - a third party - is 

not available as a matter of law. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Tortious Interference Claim Fails 

A claim for tortious interference with a contract or business 

expectancy requires five elements: (i) the existence of a valid contractual 

relationship or business expectancy; (ii) defendants' knowledge of that 

relationship; (iii) an intentional interference inducing or causing a breach of 

the relationship or expectancy; (iv) defendants' interference for an improper 

purpose or by improper means; and (v) resultant damages. Leingang v. 

Pierce Cnty. Med. Bureau, Inc., 131 Wn.2d 133,157,930 P.2d 288 (1997). 

1. Because of the Pending Judicial Foreclosure, Leibsohn 
Had No Valid Business Expectancy Beyond 
November 1, 2009 

Although Leibsohn's listing lapsed on November 1,2009, it claims to 

have had a business expectancy in the extension of the agreement on the 

same terms,33 i.e., with foreclosure sales and/or DILs as commissionable 

events. The undisputed facts show this element cannot be satisfied. 

To establish an expectancy in an at-will relationship (or a contractual 

relationship set to expire by its own terms), Leibsolm must prove he "had 

every right to anticipate [it] would continue, and ... would have continued 

33 CP 1314. 
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but for the intervention of [Colliers.]" F.D. Hill & Co. v. Wallerich, 67 

Wn.2d 409,413,407 P.2d 956 (1965). A plaintiff has no reasonable 

expectancy when the other party to the contract has and exercises a 

contractual right to withhold its consent. Broten v. May, 49 Wn. App. 564, 

569, 744 P.2d 1085 (1987). 

In Birkenwald Distributing Co. v. Heublein, Inc., 55 Wn. App. 1, 776 

P.2d 721 (1989), the Court explained that because a supplier had the right to 

terminate the distributor at will, the distributor had no claim for tortious 

interference when the supplier refused to approve the transfer of the 

distributorship agreement to a new distributor. 55 Wn. App. at 10-11. The 

mere existence of a contract does not generate a valid "expectancy" of a 

continuation of that agreement past its express terms. 

Here, Leibsohn had no reasonable expectancy that K & S would sign 

the extended listing agreement on the terms it proposed. The judicial 

foreclosure had been filed several months earlier. Under the terms Leibsohn 

proposed, the forced sale would have triggered a commission obligation. 

Likewise, the DIL discussions were well along. That too would have 

triggered a commission under Leibsohn's proposed agreement. Finally, 

K & S had an absolute right to reject the terms proposed by Leibsohn (and 

would have been crazy to sign it as presented). As Switzer explained when 

he made his counter-offer for the extension: "We would gladly pay you a fee 
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for selling the property. We will not pay a fee [to] give up our property to 

our lenders, no matter who they may be. ,,34 

2. Leibsohn Had No Contractual Relationship With K & S 
by the Time the Transaction Closed 

By the time the DIL transaction closed in late December 2009, 

Leibsohn's listing had lapsed. Despite representing to the Court that he 

signed the extension on October 2,2009,35 he ultimately admitted that he did 

not sign it before the listing agreement expired. Rather, he waited until late 

November to sign it and backdated his signature to early October.36 

Regardless of the backdating, Leibsohn never delivered or 

communicated his acceptance to K & S.37 An acceptance must be delivered 

to be effective. See, e.g., Plouse v. Bud Clary of Yakima, Inc., 128 Wn. App. 

644,648, 116 P.3d 1039 (2005) ("Acceptance is 'an expression of the 

intention, by word, sign, or writing communicated ... to the person making 

the offer. "'); see also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 56 (1981) 

(The acceptance of an offer must be communicated unless waived by the 

terms of the offer.). Here, Leibsohn never sent the executed listing 

agreement to his clients because "[t]hey never asked.,,38 

34 CP 1251. 
35 CP 96-97 ~ 4 ("On October 2,2009, the ESLA was amended to expire on 
November 1,2010"). See also CP 43:9-10; CP 1272-73 ~ 8. 
36 CP 1151:21-1152:11. 
37 CP 1156:2-13. 
38 CP 1156:4-6. 
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3. Colliers Did Not Induce or Cause a Breach of the 
Relationship or Expectancy 

Colliers could not have induced or caused a breach because there was, 

in fact, no breach of the K & S-Leibsohn contractual relationship. While 

Leibsohn had a valid listing agreement, he aggressively promoted the 

Property. K & S never breached the agreement (i.e., refused to pay a 

commission) nor did it terminate the agreement prematurely. Rather, K & S 

merely declined to extend the agreement under the same terms for an 

additional year. That is not a breach. And, as discussed above, Leibsohn had 

no legitimate expectancy to an extension under the same terms. 

4. Even If the Backdated Agreement Was Effective, It 
Excluded DILs As Commissionable Events 

Even assuming for argument purposes that Leibsohn's back-dated 

extension was valid, he had no expectation of a commission for the 

transaction that occurred here. Whether or not the transaction is deemed a 

sale or a DIL, Leibsohn agreed to exclude the transaction at issue as a 

comrnissionable event: 

39 CP 1253. 

The potential transaction in which a third party may 
ask the owners to give up the property in exchange 
for removal of personal guarantees is specifically 
excluded as part of this sales/fee agreement.39 
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Here, K & S gave up the property in exchange for releases of the personal 

guarantees of Kingen and Switzer. 

On this note, if Leibsohn is correct - that the transaction was 

actually a sale - that does not change the outcome. It simply means that 

his client - K & S - owes him a commission. 

5. The Alleged Damages Are Too Speculative 

As a matter of law, Leibsohn's alleged damages are too speculative to 

support a tortious interference claim. Despite years of marketing, Leibsohn 

could never produce a ready, willing, and able buyer. At the time ofthe 

transaction, there was no pending sale, nor any sale anywhere on the horizon, 

with which to interfere. The notion that Leibsohn could have produced a 

buyer, and at what price, is pure speculation. 

6. Leibsohn Did Not Lose an Opportunity to Sell the 
Property 

Leibsohn relies on a New Jersey case from over 60 years ago to argue 

that he has a viable tortious interference claim because the deed-in-lieu 

transaction denied him "an opportunity to negotiate for sale of the 

property.,,40 The New Jersey case is easily distinguished. In that case, there 

was a realistic possibility of a sale which would have generated a 

commission. Here, because of the pending judicial foreclosure, there was 

40 Opening Br. of Appellant at 33 (citing McCue v. Deppert, 21 N.J. Super. 591, 
91 A.2d 503 (N.J. 1952) . . 
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only a very limited window for Leibsohn to try to sell the Property. But, the 

evidence is undisputed that there was no willing and able buyer anywhere on 

the horizon for Leibsohn. Nor does Leibsohn offer any evidence showing 

that had Colliers presented SeaTac's $12.2 million offer to him, there would 

have been money to pay him a commission. In fact, Leibsohn concedes it 

would have taken a $14.5 million sale to free up money for his commission.41 

Thus, there is no evidence supporting the notion that had there not been this 

deed-in-lieu transaction, a buyer would have been located before K & S lost 

the Property in the foreclosure proceeding. 

B. The Consumer Protection and Unjust Enrichment Claims Fail 

The consumer protection claim fails for a simple reason. Leibsohn 

has no damages. He was not entitled to a commission because the listing 

agreement had lapsed. Even if it had not, the contract provided that he was 

not entitled to a commission for a deed in lieu transaction. Finally, as with 

the tortious interference claim, the damages are impermissibly speculative. 

Leibsohn claims unjust enrichment because, through his efforts, 

Colliers and SeaTac became aware that the property was available for sale.42 

But Leibsohn's efforts were pursuant to his contract with K & S. Under 

those circumstances, unjust enrichment is not available: 

41 CP 1559-60. 

42 CP359~9. 
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[A]n implied undertaking [i.e., unjust enrichment] 
cannot arise, as against one benefited by work 
performed, when the work was done under a special 
contract with other persons. 

Chandler v. Washington Toll Bridge Auth., 17 Wn.2d 591,605, 137 P.2d 

97 (1943). In other words, work that benefits a third party but is 

performed pursuant to a contract does not support a claim of unjust 

enrichment against the third party. 

V. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR ON CROSS APPEAL

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