No. 69445-6

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

LEIBSOHN PROPERTY ADVISORS INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, dba LINC PROPERTIES

Appellant,

v.

COLLIERS INTERNATIONAL REALTY ADVISORS (USA), INC., a California corporation and ARVIN VANDERVEEN and JANE DOE VANDERVEEN, and their marital community,

Respondents.

and

LEIBSOHN PROPERTY ADVISORS INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, dba LINC PROPERTIES

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SEATAC, a municipal corporation,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CITY OF SEATAC'S BRIEF

Michael B. Tierney
Attorney for Respondent City of SeaTac
Tierney & Blakney, P.C.
2955 – 80th Ave. SE, Ste. 102
Mercer Island, WA 98040 * (206) 232-3074

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

IV. ARGUMENT SUPPORTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE CITY

A. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals conducts de novo review of a trial court's grant of summary judgment. *Estep v. Hamilton*, 148 Wn.App. 246, 255-

56, 201 P.3d 331 (2008). A grant of summary judgment can be affirmed on any ground supported by the record. *Id*.

B. The Commission Exclusion eliminates Linc's claims

The most prominent fact in this case is that K&S and Linc executed the Commission Exclusion to their listing agreement as it was set forth in the October 2nd Counter-Proposal made by K&S.

No commission will be due in the event that the owners sign a deed in lieu of foreclosure. The potential transaction in which a third party may ask the owners to give up the property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees is specifically excluded as part of this sales/fee agreement.

CP 490. The Commission Exclusion creates three alternative grounds for excluding the Vander Veen transaction from any obligation by K&S to pay Linc a commission. First, the exclusion is directed toward a "potential transaction" that had previously been discussed between K&S and Linc and which was specifically identified as the Vander Veen transaction. Second, the exclusion applies in general to any transaction in which K&S was asked to give up the Property in exchange for release of personal guarantees signed by the owners of K&S. Third, the exclusion provides that K&S would not pay a commission if the owners signed a deed in lieu of foreclosure.

Each of the three standards set forth in the handwritten exclusion independently applies to the Vander Veen transaction and excludes it

from payment of a commission. Linc's opening brief challenges the application of only one of these standards – the deed in lieu of foreclosure – and does not even mention the others.

1. K&S and Linc specifically excluded the Vander Veen transaction from their listing agreement

When Scott Switzer of K&S made the October 2nd Counter-Proposal to Linc's proposed August 18 revised listing agreement, Switzer included the handwritten Commission Exclusion describing a "potential transaction" that was "specifically excluded" from the listing agreement.

...The potential transaction in which a third party may ask the owners to give up the property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees is specifically excluded as part of this sales/fee agreement.

CP 490. Mr. Switzer had explicitly identified the subject of the Commission Exclusion in his email that accompanied the October 2nd Counter-Proposal.

I wrote in a fee exclusion for the proposed deed in lieu of transaction proposed through Tom Hazelrigg and Arvin Vander Veen.

CP 494. According to Leibsohn, Mr. Switzer previously had disclosed the pending transaction during meetings among K&S, Linc, and the lenders on September 28, 2009. CP 429, 436-41.

The Commission Exclusion is simple and direct. It states that a particular "potential transaction" has been "specifically excluded" from

the listing agreement. There is no conditional language here. It does not matter whether the "potential transaction" is a deed in lieu of foreclosure, a short sale, a sale of loans, or any other form of transaction. The label or structure of the transaction is irrelevant to the exclusion. Most importantly, for purposes of Linc's arguments, nothing in the exclusion is in any way dependant on whether or not the "potential transaction" is subject to excise tax. The point being expressed in the exclusion is simply that no commission will be due to Linc on the pending transaction proposed through Arvin Vander Veen.

In response, Linc did not propose any revision to the Commission Exclusion. For instance, Linc did not propose language that would exempt only a deed in lieu of foreclosure transaction, but not a transaction in which release of personal guarantees was exchanged for the Property. Linc also made absolutely no proposal to tie the exclusion to any opinion or determination by the Washington Department of Revenue as to whether excise tax was due. In fact, according to the deposition testimony of Brian Leibsohn, Linc had absolutely no comment regarding the Commission Exclusion – it simply accepted the exclusion as written and explained by Scott Switzer. CP 430-31, 450-51, 456.

Linc cannot point to any other "potential transaction" that could have been the target of the exclusion. Linc had no buyers in sight and never came up with one, even after the listing price was slashed to \$14.5 million. The only "third party" that was interested in buying the debt on the Property was the undisclosed principal represented by Vander Veen.

The transaction that closed on December 31, 2009, is the same potential transaction that was disclosed on September 28, the same proposed transaction described in Switzer's October 2nd email, the same potential transaction that was identified in the Commission Exclusion, and the same transaction that Linc agreed to exempt from payment of commission when it signed off on the new listing contract. No matter what label is attached to it, the Vander Veen transaction is undoubtedly the one that was "specifically excluded" – there are no other possibilities.

2. The Vander Veen transaction is excluded from the listing agreement for the additional reason that it involved removal of personal guarantees

The Commission Exclusion creates an additional and more general category of exclusion that applies to transactions "in which the owners are asked to give up the property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees." CP 490. The Vander Veen transaction squarely meets this criterion.

One of the core ingredients of the transaction consisted of the releases of Mr. Kingen and Mr. Switzer, the principals of K&S, from the personal guarantees they signed securing the first and second deeds of

trust. CP 533-35. The Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure Agreement executed by K&S and Centrum required Centrum or its assigns (the City) to provide Kingen and Switzer with releases of the personal guarantees they had signed securing the Avatar and Centrum loans. CP 513. In return, K&S was to provide a deed to the Property. CP 513-14. The required releases and deed were executed and delivered by the parties. CP 533-40.

No question of fact or law exists here. Entirely apart from any inquiry into excise taxes or the meaning of "deed in lieu," the transaction that closed on December 31, 2009 falls squarely within the language of the Commission Exclusion because it was a transaction in which a third party asked the owners to give up the Property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees. Leibsohn was not aware of any other proposed transaction at the time, so the Vander Veen proposal was clearly the only candidate that could possibly constitute "the potential transaction in which a third party" was asking "the owners to give up the property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees."

Linc's Opening Brief does not contain a single word about the "personal guarantees" exclusion. The void here is no accident, because there is absolutely nothing Linc can say on this point. Regardless of the application of the other terms of the Commission Exclusion, regardless of the definition of "deed in lieu," regardless of the question of excise taxes,

regardless of the complexity of the documents, and regardless of the label attached to the transaction, there is no question that it involved giving up the Property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees.

Linc's silence on this point speaks volumes. There is no doubt that Linc agreed with K&S, in writing, that it would forgo a commission on a "release of personal guarantees" transaction. There is no doubt that Linc had absolutely no legitimate expectation of receiving a commission on this transaction. There is no doubt that Linc suffered zero damages when the transaction closed without paying Linc a commission. And there is no doubt that Linc consequently is unable to maintain an action for interference with its nonexistent business expectancy. The "release of personal guarantees" exclusion completely bars Linc's claim.

3. The Vander Veen transaction was a deed in lieu transaction within the meaning of the Commission Exclusion

The third category of exclusion created by the Commission Exclusion is a general exclusion for deeds in lieu of foreclosure. The handwritten language of the exclusion is quite simple. It states that no commission will be due "if the owners sign a deed in lieu of foreclosure." CP 490. It says nothing about the exclusion being contingent upon whether or not DOR takes the position that excise tax is due.

Consequently, the only question here is the following: did "the owners sign a deed in lieu of foreclosure?"

On this point, no dispute of fact exists. The deed signed by the owners specifically states that it is given in consideration of the agreement not to foreclose on the Property. CP 537. The meaning of the deed is further established by the "Deed In Lieu Of Foreclosure Agreement" which was signed by the parties and which clearly lays out the process through which K&S provided the deed in exchange for dismissal of the foreclosure proceedings. CP 513.

Familiar principles of contract interpretation apply when interpreting deeds. See, e.g., Carr v. Burlington N., Inc., 23 Wn.App. 386, 390-91, 597 P.2d 409 (1979) (ambiguity in a deed is resolved in favor of grantee and against grantor); Hoglund v. Omak Wood Prod., Inc., 81 Wn.App. 501, 504, 914 P.2d 1197 (1996) (parties' intent is derived from reading the deed as a whole, giving words their ordinary meaning). Interpretation of a contract is an inquiry into the intent of the parties, beginning with an examination of the language they used to express their agreement. Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 663, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). Consistent with these principles of contract interpretation, the review of a deed is a mixed question of law and fact. Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowner's Ass'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243

P.3d 1283 (2010), citing, Roeder Co. v. Burlington N., Inc., 105 Wn.2d 567, 571–72, 716 P.2d 855 (1986) (internal citation omitted). The factual issue is the declarant's intent, which is discerned from the face of the declaration. Id. The declaration's legal consequences are questions of law. Id. Washington courts have consistently held that "when reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion, questions of fact may be determined as a matter of law." Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 775, 698 P.2d 77 (1985).

With respect to the intention of the parties, no reasonable trier of fact could come to any conclusion other than that K&S, Centrum, and the City, as Centrum's successor to the loan, intended to execute a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure. Examination of the plain language of the transaction documents leaves no question that the parties intended a deed in lieu of foreclosure transaction.

This Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure Agreement (the "Agreement") is made as of 12/24/09, 2009, by and between Centrum Financial Services, Inc., its successors and assigns ("Lender"), K & S Developments, LLC, a Washington limited liability company ("Borrower") and Gerald Robert Kingen and Scott G. Switzer (collectively, "Guarantor").

CP 512.

The parties hereto desire to resolve the default of Borrower under the Loan Documents by providing for a conveyance of the Property, the Leases (as defined below) and the

personal property, intangible property, and contract rights associated with the Property (collectively, the "Collateral") to Lender upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

CP 513. (emphasis added). Furthermore, the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure Agreement sets forth the rationale behind the parties' intent, stating that the value of the Property was determined to be less than the amounts owed on the loans secured by the Property.

The value of the Property is less than the sum of the outstanding principal and accrued interest on the Loan and that certain senior loan from Avatar Income Fund I LLC (together with its successors and assigns, "Senior Lender") in the original principal amount of \$6,500,000 (the "Senior Loan").

CP 513. Thus, the parties had explicitly agreed that K&S would be permitted to walk away from the loan in exchange for its agreement to deed the property to the lender.

The interpretation of a deed depends upon the intent of the parties as expressed in the language of the deed. In the case at hand, there is no doubt as to the intent of the parties, who executed a deed in lieu of foreclosure agreement and who consummated that transaction with a deed given in exchange for the dismissal of a foreclosure action. Consequently, within the meaning of the Commission Exclusion, there is no doubt that K&S "signed a deed in lieu of foreclosure," thus making the transaction exempt from payment of a commission to Linc by K&S.

C. Linc's Claims Are Barred By Waiver and Estoppel

Waiver is the voluntary relinquishment of a known right. Cornerstone Equip. Leasing, Inc. v. MacLeod, 159 Wn.App. 899, 909, 247 P.3d 790 (2011).

Equitable estoppel prevents a party from changing its position after others have acted in reliance on that position. The elements of estoppel are (1) an admission, statement or act inconsistent with a claim afterwards asserted, (2) action by another in reliance upon that act, statement or admission, and (3) injury to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement or admission. *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 35, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000).

Both waiver and estoppel are triggered by Linc's acceptance of the October 2nd Counter-Proposal and the Commission Exclusion that it contained. Linc sat on the October 2nd Counter-Proposal for more than seven weeks before signing it on November 23, 2009. By that date Linc believed the exclusion had been drafted by Vander Veen and specifically exempted the Vander Veen proposal from the commission agreement. Linc also had already lodged a complaint against Vander Veen with the CBA. Consequently, Linc was fully aware that it was relinquishing a claim to a commission on the Vander Veen proposal when it signed the October 2nd Counter-Proposal. This is a classic waiver.

Estoppel exists because Linc sent the executed October 2nd Counter-Proposal to CBA, knowing CBA would provided it to Vander Veen along with the other materials related to Linc's CBA complaint. Linc alleges Vander Veen told the City about the October 2nd Counter-Proposal. CP 394. The plain language of the October 2nd Counter-Proposal tells any reader that Linc has no claim to a commission on the transaction ultimately closed by the City. The City and Vander Veen derived that assurance from the document just as any other reader would, and proceeded with the closing secure in the knowledge that no commission was due to Linc. Allowing Linc to change its position now and sue the City for a commission is precisely the sort of about-face that the doctrine of estoppel prevents. When Linc signed the October 2nd Counter-Proposal, it created a safe harbor in which the City's transaction could go forward. Estoppel prevents Linc from imposing an after-the-fact commission on the safe harbor.

D. Linc cannot prove the elements of tortious interference

The City and the Colliers defendants both presented convincing arguments to the Superior Court showing that Linc was unable to prove the elements of tortious interference and that the Defendants were therefore entitled to summary judgment. The Superior Court granted summary judgment on that basis, among others. Linc presents no

argument regarding its inability to prove tortious interference. Instead, it merely refers to its arguments before the Superior Court. Opening Brief, p. 18. However, parties cannot present an argument on appeal by attempting to incorporate by reference arguments made elsewhere. *In re Guardianship of Lamb*, 173 Wn. 2d 173, 183 (2011). Linc has waived its appeal on this point by not raising it in its Opening Brief. *Ganser-Heibel v. Chavallo Complex, LLC*, __ Wn.App. __, 293 P.3d 1234, 1236-37 (2013).

Notwithstanding Linc's waiver, and without conceding that Linc has preserved this issue for appeal, the City summarizes below the arguments that support the Superior Court decision.

1. Elements of tortious interference

A plaintiff must prove five elements in order to establish a prima facie case of intentional interference with contractual relations: (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; (2) knowledge of the contractual relationship on the part of the defendant; (3) intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of the contractual relationship or expectancy; (4) that defendant interfered for an improper purpose or used improper means; and (5) resulting damage to the party whose contractual relationship has been disrupted. *Cornish College of the Arts v. 1000 Virginia Ltd. Partnership*, 158 Wn.App. 203, 242 P.3d

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